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At the start of the year MARKO LETONJA took up the 
position of Chief Conductor and Artistic Director of 
the Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra. Welcome Marko!, 
a concert in Federation Concert Hall on 3 March, was 
hailed as ‘a musical triumph’ by The Australian.

The TSO and MONA collaborated on programming and 
staging SYNAESTHESIA: MUSIC OF COLOUR AND 
MIND, an extraordinary series of events – concerts, 
recitals, solo spots, experiments and discussions – held 
at MONA in November. Showcasing new and recent 
music, and featuring both the TSO and TSO Chorus, 
Synaesthesia explored the connection between sound 
and colour.

The TSO with conductor Marko Letonja and soloist 
Francesco Celata travelled to Cygnet, Latrobe and 
George Town for the 2012 REGIONAL TOUR.

In further regional touring, MINI TSO travelled to 
Deloraine and Devonport, and the BRASS OF THE TSO 
toured Risdon Vale and Queenstown.

For the first time, the TSO’s free annual outdoor 
concerts in Hobart and Launceston were sponsored by 
the RACT. RACT SYMPHONY UNDER THE STARS drew 
large crowds in both cities, particularly Launceston, 
where perfect summer weather attracted many 
thousands of concert-goers. 

Members of the TSO CHORUS travelled to Hong Kong 
in November-December to join other choristers for 
performances of Brahms’ Ein deutsches Requiem by  
the Hong Kong Philharmonic under Music Director  
Jaap van Zweden.

The TSO released two further discs in the ROMANTIC 
PIANO CONCERTO SERIES on the UK label Hyperion. 
Featuring Howard Shelley as conductor and soloist, 
the two releases bring to 11 the total number of TSO 
recordings in Hyperion’s Romantic Piano Concerto Series.

The TSO travelled to Perth in October for seven 
performances of Prokofiev’s Romeo and Juliet by  
THE AUSTRALIAN BALLET. 

The TSO partnered with Kickstart Arts to present 
MKONO KWA MKONO, a celebration of traditional and 
contemporary African music and dance. A follow-up to 
2010’s Power Hip Hop, Mkono kwa Mkono was performed 
at Hobart’s Stanley Burbury Theatre on 11 December. 



Marko Letonja

4 5

2012

Slovenian conductor Marko Letonja became the  
Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra’s Chief Conductor  
and Artistic Director at the start of 2012.

Maestro Letonja first conducted the TSO in 2009 and,  
following the success of that concert, was invited to return in 2010.

A graduate of the Vienna Academy of Music, he was Musical  
Director of the Slovenian Philharmonic Orchestra from 1991 to 2003, 
and from 2003 to 2006 was Music Director and Chief Conductor of 
both the Symphony Orchestra and the Opera in Basel.

He made his first tour of Australia and New Zealand in 2007 and, 
the following year, was appointed Principal Guest Conductor of 
Orchestra Victoria in Melbourne.

Among the many orchestras he has conducted are the Vienna 
Symphony, Munich Philharmonic, Hamburg Symphony and  
Bremen Philharmonic. His many opera engagements include 
performances at Milan’s Teatro alla Scala, the Vienna State Opera, 
Rome’s Teatro dell’Opera, the Semper Opera in Dresden and the 
Berlin State Opera.

In addition to his position as Chief Conductor and Artistic  
Director of the TSO, he is Music Director of the Strasbourg 
Philharmonic Orchestra.

managing director
The Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra entered a new era in 
2012 under Chief Conductor and Artistic Director Marko 
Letonja. Marko’s warmth and energy were immediately 
apparent in the sound of the orchestra, and we are delighted 
that he is a champion of Australian music.
As the Chairman has noted, the 2012 season was very 
broad in its appeal, attracting a diverse audience. Among 
the highlights were Synaesthesia at MONA, which enabled 
the orchestra and chorus to perform some very exciting 
contemporary repertoire, and Marko Letonja’s moving 
reading of Brahms’ German Requiem. Special mention 
must be made of the performance by the TSO Chorus of 
Beethoven’s little-performed Christ on the Mount of Olives 
and the concert conducted by Vladimir Ashkenazy.
We advanced our very important collaborations with other 
major arts organisations, including The Australian Ballet 
and MONA, and commenced recording the complete piano 
concertos by Malcolm Williamson for the British label 
Hyperion. We also recorded new music by contemporary 
Australian composers for the HUSH Music Foundation. 
Additionally, we conducted workshops supported by AARNet 
for the ground-breaking Shadow Dreams project, which saw 
groups of musicians performing simultaneously at either end 
of the State linked by high-speed broadband.
Philanthropic support increased significantly. We are very 
grateful to individual philanthropists and to the increasing 
number of companies who entered into partnerships with 
us. The TSO was fortunate to be selected to take part in the 
Australia Council’s inaugural philanthropy study tour to New 
York. The Chairman and I were able to inspect philanthropic 
initiatives from a range of US-based arts companies and we 
can expect a number of outcomes to flow from this.
During the year we farewelled violinist Cherelle Gadge, 
the second longest serving member of the orchestra. We 
also thanked Lyndon Terracini, who completed his term as 
Director of the Australian Music Program with Synaesthesia. 
We welcomed Principal Clarinet Andrew Seymour, violist 
Katie Betts and violinist Monica Naselow, together 
with Orchestra Librarian Katey Sutcliffe and Corporate 
Partnerships Executive Gabrielle Lis.
I would like to thank all members of the orchestra, the 
administration staff, the Board, TSO Chorus, subscribers, 
Friends of the TSO and our many volunteers for 
contributing to a highly successful season.
Finally, I would like to thank our outgoing Chairman  
Geoff Willis for his inspiring leadership and wise counsel.

Nicholas Heyward

chairman
The Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra delighted audiences 
in 2012, the first year under Chief Conductor and Artistic 
Director Marko Letonja. Right from the very first concert, 
acclaimed in The Australian as ‘a musical triumph’, Marko 
enthused and motivated musicians and concert-goers alike.

In addition to presenting a program of broad appeal reaching 
out to all Tasmanians, and strong subscription series in 
Hobart and Launceston, the orchestra extended its reach 
in 2012 with a season of Romeo and Juliet in Perth for The 
Australian Ballet, an extraordinary weekend of concerts 
and other events at MONA that explored the concept of 
synaesthesia, and commissions and recording projects 
that took the Australian Music Program in ever more 
interesting directions. In these and other areas the orchestra 
demonstrated not only its virtuosity, but also its versatility.

Although our costs were tightly controlled throughout the 
year, we finished with a small deficit. During the year we 
invested in strengthening the business and reinforcing our 
relationship with the TSO Foundation, and we expect these 
initiatives to bring their rewards in years to come. Looking 
to our overall financial position at the end of 2012, I am 
pleased to report that it continues to provide a positive 
setting for the period ahead.

Central to our funding are the major contributions from the 
Australia Council for the Arts and the State of Tasmania, 
and I am pleased to report that we met all the performance, 
financial and governance requirements attached to this 
funding. In the current economic environment we gratefully 
acknowledge this ongoing support.

A strong sense of ‘family’ is growing around the TSO and 
I wish to thank the financial support of sponsors, patrons 
and subscribers together with the loyal support of our 
concert audiences.

This is my last report as Chairman and, in a reflective 
mode, I would like to record the tremendous support 
I have been afforded by all our Directors, by Nicholas 
Heyward and his team, and most importantly the 
wonderful spirit that has prevailed in all of my interactions 
with the orchestra. It has been a pleasure and a joy for me 
to have had the opportunity to be so close to something 
so great. Thank you.

Geoffrey L Willis
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repertoire, premières  
and commissions
Under new Chief Conductor and Artistic Director Marko 
Letonja, the Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra continued 
to hone its expertise in music ca.1750-1850 with 
performances of works by Haydn, Mozart, Beethoven, 
Weber and Mendelssohn among others. Maestro Letonja 
made a strong statement in support of Australian music 
by commencing the 2012 season with a performance 
of Peter Sculthorpe’s Kakadu. Other works by Australian 
composers performed in 2012 included Endling by 
Andrew Schultz, Antarctica Suite by Nigel Westlake  
and the Piano Concerto No 2 by Malcolm Williamson.

Importantly, the TSO and TSO Chorus gave the world 
première of Blitz by Andrew Ford (commissioned by  
the TSO with the support of the Sidney Myer Fund).  
The TSO also gave the first Tasmanian performances  
of Full Moon Dances by Ross Edwards (with saxophone 
soloist Amy Dickson), the Piano Concerto No 2 by Carl 
Vine (with soloist Piers Lane) and The Moonlight Jewel 
by Julian Langdon (commissioned for the TSO and the 
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra by Joy Selby Smith, 
TSO Principal Trumpet Chair Patron). For Synaesthesia: 
Music of Colour and Mind, the TSO Chorus gave the 
world premières of Lux aeterna by Calvin Bowman and 
The Ascension of Jesus by Constantine Koukias.

The TSO and the HUSH Foundation commissioned works 
by composers Maria Grenfell, Matthew Hindson, Paul 
Stanhope and Nigel Westlake, which were recorded 
as part of the TSO’s inaugural HUSH CD (for further 
information, see ‘Collaborations’ and ‘Recordings’).

statistics
TOTAL NUMBER OF PERFORMANCES: 68
PAID CONCERTS: 51 (Hobart 27, Regional 10, School 14)
HIRE CONCERTS: 12
FREE CONCERTS: 5
PAID ATTENDANCES: 28,557 (Hobart 19,147,  
Regional 3,800, School 5,610)
FREE AND OTHER ATTENDANCES: 30,600*
TOTAL ATTENDANCES: 59,157
*In addition to RACT Symphony under the Stars – free outdoor concerts 
in Glenorchy and Launceston – this figure includes seven performances 
of Romeo and Juliet with The Australian Ballet in Perth and other Hire 
Concert attendances.

For the second consecutive year, the TSO worked 
closely with The Australian Ballet. Recordings were 
made as part of the Music of the Dance CD release 
(commemorating the 50th anniversary of The 
Australian Ballet) and the entire orchestra travelled 
to Western Australia for the Perth season of The 
Australian Ballet’s Romeo and Juliet, held from 
10-14 October.

The TSO’s annual collaboration with the Australian 
Youth Orchestra reached a 10-year milestone in  
2012. In addition to a combined TSO-AYO concert 
held on 7 September, the collaboration included 
professional development sessions and Wind, Brass  
and Percussion Fellowships.

The TSO’s collaboration with the Australian National 
Academy of Music (ANAM) was further strengthened in 
2012. ANAM musicians were involved in Synaesthesia 
and the TSO hosted the ANAM Concerto Competition 
final on 20 October.

In a follow-up to 2010’s Power Hip Hop, the TSO 
collaborated once more with Kickstart Arts on  
Mkono Kwa Mkono.

New in 2012 was the TSO’s collaboration with the 
HUSH Music Foundation. The HUSH Music Foundation 
produces soothing and relaxing music to reduce 
stress and anxiety for children, families and others 
in hospital. The recordings are played during medical 
procedures as well as treatment rooms and waiting 
areas in children’s hospitals and wards throughout the 
country (see ‘Recordings’ for further information).

The TSO embarked upon a collaboration in 2012 with 
the Terrapin Puppet Theatre for an original work 
involving a newly commissioned score, puppetry,  
digital effects and technology to be performed as  
part of Ten Days on the Island in 2013.

collaborations
The major collaborative project of 2012 was 
Synaesthesia: Music of Colour and Mind, a partnership 
between the TSO and MONA (Museum of Old and New 
Art) which explored connections between sound and 
colour. Synaesthesia was developed from a concept by 
Lyndon Terracini, Director of the TSO’s Australian Music 
Program, who, together with Brian Ritchie and Simon 
Rogers, curated a two-day program of concerts (3-4 
November) which featured, above all, music by living 
composers and works of the past 70 years. Hosted by 
David Walsh, Synaesthesia involved the TSO and TSO 
Chorus, vocal soloists, instrumental soloists and chamber 
musicians. The performance spaces at MONA were given 
mood lighting by celebrated designer John Rayment.

Julian LangdonRoss Edwards Andrew Ford

Hobart

Launceston

Burnie

Latrobe
Devonport

Evandale

Queenstown

Deloraine

Cygnet

Risdon Vale

Synaesthesia conductor Kenneth Young and the TSO in the  
Nolan Gallery at MONA

TSO Chorus with soloist Sharon Prero
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recordings

conductor/
director
Vladimir Ashkenazy
Don Bate
Baldur Brönnimann
Michael Collins
Kevin Field
Nicolette Fraillon
Andrew Grams#

Andrew Greene
Marko Letonja
Jun Yi Ma
Guy Noble
Benjamin Northey
Howard Shelley
Dmitry Sitkovetsky
Leif Sundstrup
Marc Taddei
Arvo Volmer
Gary Wain
Brett Weymark
Kenneth Young

piano
Aidan Boase†

Young Kwon Choi*
John Fisher*
Alexander Gavrylyuk
Piers Lane
Tony Lee*
Howard Shelley
Jeremy So*

violin
Shane Chen†

Isabelle Faust#

Ji Won Kim
Tasmin Little
Jun Yi Ma
Dmitry Sitkovetsky

cello
Sue-Ellen Paulsen

guitar
Slava Grigoryan

oboe
David Nuttall

clarinet
Francesco Celata
Michael Collins

saxophone
Amy Dickson#

bassoon
Jack Schiller†

trumpet
Josh Rogan†

tuba
Tim Jones

voice
Richard Alexander#

Allison Bell#

Nicole Car
Seble Girma# (Mkono kwa  
 Mkono)
Lorina Gore
Stuart Maunder#

Jacqueline Porter
Merlyn Quaife
Sally-Anne Russell
Stuart Skelton
Teddy Tahu Rhodes

ensemble
Eighth Blackbird#

compere
Ryk Goddard#

Christopher Lawrence
Guy Noble

artist
Phil Doncon

Vladimir Ashkenazy

Amy Dickson

Eighth Blackbird

Nicole Car

Alexander Gavrylyuk

Isabelle Faust

Marko Letonja

Stuart Skelton

The Very Best of Mendelssohn
ABC 476 4471

The Very Best of Schubert
ABC 476 4480

recordings
ADAM Giselle (selected movements)
AUBER Grand pas classique
BROPHY Halcyon No 2
HANDEL Xerxes, Largo
RACHMANINOV Spring Waters
TCHAIKOVSKY The Sleeping Beauty (selected movements)
TSO/Nicolette Fraillon
Federation Concert Hall, 23-27 January, ABC Classics

Halloween Classics CD (as cited in CD Releases)
TSO/Andrew Greene
Federation Concert Hall, 2-5 April, ABC Classics

WILLIAMSON Piano Concerto No 2
WILLIAMSON Piano Concerto No 3
WILLIAMSON Concerto for Two Pianos
TSO/Piers Lane/Howard Shelley
Federation Concert Hall, 17-21 July, Hyperion

DÖHLER Piano Concerto Op 7
DREYSCHOCK Morceau de Concert Op 27
DREYSCHOCK Rondo Brilliant for Piano and Orchestra Op 32
TSO/Howard Shelley
Federation Concert Hall, 23-26 July, Hyperion 

GRENFELL Rock Hopping
HINDSON The Stars Above Us All
STANHOPE The Magic Island
WESTLAKE Diving with George
TSO/Benjamin Northey
Federation Concert Hall, 10-11 September, Hush

ELGAR Cello Concerto
MAHLER Rückert-Lieder
TSO/Sue-Ellen Paulsen/Teddy Tahu Rhodes/Marko Letonja
Federation Concert Hall, 27-30 November, ABC Classics

cd releases
KALKBRENNER
The Romantic Piano Concerto – 56
KALKBRENNER  Piano Concerto No 2 

in E minor
KALKBRENNER  Piano Concerto No 3 

in A minor
KALKBRENNER Adagio ed Allegro di bravura
TSO/Howard Shelley
Hyperion CDA67843

PIXIS & THALBERG
The Romantic Piano Concerto – 58
PIXIS Piano Concerto in C major Op 100
PIXIS Concertino in E-flat major Op 68
THALBERG Concerto in F minor Op 5
TSO/Howard Shelley
Hyperion CDA67915

HALLOWEEN CLASSICS
Music by GRIEG, MARSCHNER, 
PUCCINI, VERDI et al
TSO/Andrew Greene
ABC 476 5104

ADVANCE AUSTRALIA FAIR
Advance Australia Fair
God Save the Queen
The Vice-Regal Salute
TSO/TSO Chorus/MarcTaddei
ABC 476 4739

CDS FEATURING THE TSO
The Art of the Guitar – Great Guitar Concertos
ABC 480 6461

The Australian Ballet – The Music of the Dance
ABC 480 6403

Chopin: The Great Concertos
ABC 476 4836

The Glory of Christmas
ABC 481 0033#TSO debut in 2012 

*ABC Symphony Australia Young Performers Awards finalist
†ANAM Concerto Competition finalist
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goaLs and kpis

•  New works by Maria Grenfell, Matthew Hindson, Paul 
Stanhope and Nigel Westlake recorded for the HUSH 
Music Foundation.

•  Malcolm Williamson’s Piano Concerto No 2, Piano 
Concerto No 3 and Concerto for Two Pianos with 
pianist/conductor Howard Shelley and pianist Piers 
Lane recorded by UK label Hyperion.

2.  That Tasmanians have a 
strong sense of ownership 
of the TSO.

Increasing Tasmanian audience.
•  Tasmanian attendances decreased slightly in 2012 

which can be attributed to two things: (1) a general 
downturn in the economy and (2) the fact that, unlike 
the previous year, the TSO was not involved in the 
free outdoor concert, Carols by the Bay. However, 
total attendances increased substantially in 2012. 
They were boosted by 8,433 paid attendances at The 
Australian Ballet’s Perth season of Romeo and Juliet.

High level of awareness in annual survey.
•  The Community Survey prepared by EMRS (Enterprise 

Marketing and Research Services) showed that in 
December 2012 95% of respondents were ‘aware of 
the TSO’ and 90% ‘considered the TSO to be a source 
of pride to Tasmanians’.

1.  To be recognised nationally 
and internationally as one 
of the world’s great small 
symphony orchestras.

High quality concert season broadcast 
nationally/streamed internationally.
•  A total of 25 TSO concerts were recorded by  

ABC Classic FM in 2012.

•  23 concerts were broadcast nationally/streamed 
internationally, six as direct broadcasts.

Improved ratings in international 
benchmarking.
•  As was anticipated in the 2011 Annual Report, the 

relationships with the five international orchestras 
of similar size and/or similar niche have moved 
away from benchmarking into ‘closer cooperation, 
co-commissions, exchanges of ideas and exchanges 
of players’. The introduction of the Live It Up Live 
Student Season Pass has led to a marked difference 
in audience demographic and a palpable increase 
in audience enthusiasm. The North American 
experience around similar initiatives is that this 
will in turn generate increased box office and 
philanthropic support for the orchestra.

Innovative Australian Music Program 
delivered nationally.
•  World première of Andrew Ford’s Blitz, and 

Tasmanian premières of Ross Edwards’ Full Moon 
Dances, Carl Vine’s Piano Concerto No 2 and  
Julian Langdon’s The Moonlight Jewel, in main 
concert season.

•  Further world premières as part of Synaesthesia, 
Calvin Bowman’s Lux aeterna and Constantine 
Koukias’ The Ascension of Jesus.

4.  To be well managed  
and financially stable.

Reserves ratio exceeds 20% of costs.
• Reserves ratio 37.21%.

Working capital ratio 2:1.
• Working capital ratio 1.96:1.

Operating margin greater than 1%.
• Operating margin -0.38%

Earned income to grow by at least 2% 
above percentage of grant income.
• Earned income grew by 19.52%

5.  To have a positive 
workplace culture.

Improved ratings in biannual Whole of 
Company survey.
•  While ratings were not improved in the 2012 Whole  

of Company survey, action has been taken to address 
the key points raised.

3.  To be continually  
striving for excellence  
in performance.

Improved ratings from Peer Panel.
•  Four concerts (three Master Series concerts and 

one Matinee Series concert) were evaluated by the 
Artistic Peer Assessment Panel. The average score 
was 8.6/10.

Ongoing program of venue acoustic 
improvement and orchestral equipment/
musical instrument upgrades.
•  The design process to extend the acoustic reflector 

panel in Federation Concert Hall was instigated.

•  A grant of $25,000 was received from the  
Tasmanian Community Fund to go towards the  
cost of refurbishing one of the orchestra’s Steinway 
concert grand pianos to be housed permanently  
in Launceston’s Albert Hall.

•  Instrument/equipment purchases in 2012 were  
2 x Naumann (Baroque) trumpets, 2 x Basset  
horns, crotales, timpani covers, drum mats, and 
music stands.
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The Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra is more than just 
a concert-giving organisation. The TSO recognises that 
it has a responsibility to the wider community in the 
form of (1) making itself accessible to people who, 
for whatever reason, are unable to come to orchestral 
concerts under normal circumstances and (2) lending its 
support to a range of organisations including charities, 
schools and other arts organisations.

As part of meeting its accessibility responsibilities, 
the TSO performs free outdoor concerts in Glenorchy, 
a suburb of Hobart, and Launceston. In 2012 these 
concerts reached a combined audience of approximately 
14,500. Additionally, the TSO offers free concert tickets 
to disadvantaged Tasmanians as part of the AccessTix 
program. Sponsored by Hydro Tasmania and run with the 
administrative support of Reclink Australia, AccessTix 
makes orchestral music available to marginal members 
of the community, particularly those who live with 
physical and/or intellectual impairment. In 2012, 568 
tickets were distributed as part of the AccessTix program. 
TicketBank is a similar initiative. A subsidy program for 
Tasmanian schools, TicketBank distributes TSO tickets to 
schools which, because of economic disadvantage and/
or geographical isolation, would otherwise be unable to 
attend Education concerts. In 2012, 175 tickets to three 
different schools were distributed as part of this program. 
TicketBank is subsidised by the TSO’s corporate supporters.

The TSO also supports Tasmanian schools in other ways. 
Concert tickets are made available on request to assist 
with school raffles and other fundraising initiatives. 
Concert tickets are also offered as prizes to musically 
gifted students. Similarly, concert tickets are donated to 
be used as prizes at local eisteddfods. The TSO likewise 
supports community clubs, charities and the like to meet 
their fundraising targets by offering complimentary concert 
tickets. Some of the organisations that received support 
in this way in 2012 were the NW Medical Research Fund/
Clifford Craig Medical Trust, ABC Giving Tree, Colony 47 
Christmas Lunch Appeal and the Huon Valley Concert Band.

The orchestra makes its facilities available to players for 
private lessons and lends instruments and equipment  
to a range of music groups in the community.

The TSO works closely with the State Emergency 
Service to help stage RACT Symphony under the Stars 
in Glenorchy. RACT Symphony under the Stars is also 
an important event for the Rotary clubs of Glenorchy 
and Launceston, which use the annual TSO concerts 
as an opportunity to raise money for Rotary projects 
by operating food stalls. The TSO’s own catering at 
many of its functions throughout the year is provided 
by volunteers from the Australian Cancer Research 
Foundation. In this way the TSO is able to offer financial 
support to this very worthwhile charity.

The TSO worked with the HUSH Music Foundation in 
2012 to record original orchestral music by Australian 
composers for the first-ever orchestral release in the 
HUSH CD catalogue. The TSO also lent its support 
to Kickstart Arts, a Hobart-based independent arts 
company which fosters arts-based projects in the wider 
community. The 2012 project, Mkono kwa Mkono, saw 
the TSO engage with Tasmania’s African community. This 
followed upon the success of Power Hip Hop in 2010. An 
ongoing project in 2012 was the Strings for East Timor 
Music Program, whereby TSO string players donate used 
strings to resource-poor musicians in East Timor.

The Friends of the TSO (FOTSO) does the very important 
work of raising funds for the TSO and raising awareness 
about the orchestra in the broader community. With 
a membership base of more than 500 and a proactive 
committee, FOTSO offers support on many fronts. Among 
the very important work of FOTSO is encouraging up-
and-coming musicians with cash prizes and scholarships, 
and offering financial support to Tasmanian members  
of the Australian Youth Orchestra to attend AYO 
activities interstate.

The TSO is supported by an army of volunteers in the 
form of members of the Board, the TSO Chorus, FOTSO, 
members of the Education Advisory Committees, and 
various fundraising committees including the Gala Ball 
Committee and the Northern Fundraising Committee. To 
all of these volunteers, the TSO offers a heartfelt thank 
you for a job well done in 2012.

conductor training
A total of 15 participants from all over the country 
took part in two blocks of Conductor Training in 2012. 
The first mastercourse, in January-February, was led by 
conductor Christopher Seaman; the second, in August, 
was led by Marko Letonja.

symphony australia  
tso composers’ school
The annual Symphony Australia TSO Composers’ School 
was held 23-28 September. Four students worked with 
Composers’ School director Richard Mills, conductor 
Kevin Field, tutors Andrew Schultz and Elliott Gyger, 
and guest composer Graeme Koehne.

australian youth orchestra 
collaboration
This year marked the tenth anniversary of the 
collaboration between the TSO and Australian Youth 
Orchestra. Thirty-two musicians from the AYO were 
mentored by TSO players culminating in a concert on 
7 September conducted by Marko Letonja. Eight AYO 
musicians also participated in the Wind, Brass and 
Percussion Fellowships, which were held in the run-up 
to rehearsal week.

abc symphony australia 
young performers 
awards & anam concerto 
competition
The TSO hosted the Stage III Keyboard final of the  
ABC Symphony Australia Young Performers Awards.  
For the second year running, the TSO also hosted the 
final stage of the Australian National Academy of 
Music Concerto Competition.

schools’ concerts, fast brass 
& mini tso
The full-size TSO gave four Schools’ Concerts in 2012, 
three in Hobart and one in Launceston. Fast Brass, 
featuring the Brass and Percussion of the TSO, was 
performed three times in Hobart and once each in 
Risdon Vale, Queenstown and Burnie. Mini TSO  
gave two concerts in Devonport and one in Deloraine.

Fast Brass at Risdon Vale Primary School

open rehearsals & big 
rehearsal
There were three Open Rehearsals in 2012, all of them 
held in Federation Concert Hall, Hobart. They were 
attended by school students and the Friends of the 
TSO. Forty-eight musicians from the Tasmanian Youth 
Orchestra took part in the 2012 Big Rehearsal, an 
opportunity for musicians from the TYO to rehearse 
a concert program with the TSO, which was then 
performed before an audience of family and friends.

Big Rehearsal with conductor Marko Letonja

coMMunity engageMent
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A major achievement of 2012 was the introduction of 
the ‘Live It Up Live’ season pass for full-time secondary 
and tertiary students. For an annual fee of $30, pass 
holders were given free access to more than 20 concerts. 
A marked difference in the composition of the audience 
and the ‘buzz’ in the foyer and hall have flowed from 
this campaign.

corporate partnerships
The year 2012 was tough for Corporate Partnerships,  
with many companies reviewing their sponsorship funding 
options due to the continuing downturn in the Tasmanian 
economy. However, there were a number of successes for 
the TSO.

Hydro Tasmania continued as a Premier Partner with the RACT 
also joining the TSO as a Premier Partner by becoming the 
naming rights sponsor of RACT Symphony Under the Stars.

The TSO also welcomed BMW and Southern Cross as Major 
Sponsors and Bell Bay Aluminium as the sponsor of the 
Regional tour. The TSO appreciated the continued support 

marketing
The TSO brand continues to maintain high levels of 
awareness with 90% of Tasmanians taking ‘great 
pride in the TSO’ (EMRS consumer research December 
2011 and December 2012). It is within this positive 
environment that the TSO marketing strategy has taken 
the direction of selling the experience of live concerts 
with the ‘Live it Live’ communications campaign now 
in its second year.

Subscription package sales level continued to be 
maintained in 2012 but the pressure to recruit new 
subscribers remained tough. Single ticket sales 
continued to be ‘short term’ and strategies and sales 
channels have needed to be highly targeted and 
specialised to reach sales targets. This has included 
greater use of electronic media – the internet and 
social media to reach new audiences – together with 
more traditional media channels such as press and 
television. Direct marketing has also proved successful.

Front cover of the 2012 TSO brochure

 
Donations to the Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra 
totaled $284,325 in 2012, a record amount. A 
significant number of new Chair Patrons were 
welcomed: Tim and Louise Mooney, Bruce Neill and 
Penny Clive, Warwick and Helen Rule, Andrew Tulloch, 
and Julius and Gabriella Vertessy.

The TSO also received $22,871 from the TSO Foundation, 
a separate company that manages an endowment 
fund established to guarantee the long-term financial 
security of the orchestra. The TSO Foundation expects to 
derive the bulk of its future capital from bequests.

A grant of $25,000 was received from the Tasmanian 
Community Fund in aid of the Albert Hall Piano Project.

Special events in 2012 were the TSO Gala Ball, 
sponsored by Wrest Point; the Chairman’s Lunch 
with guest speaker Janet Holmes à Court; a black-tie 
fundraising dinner in the refurbished barn at Clarendon, 
near Evandale; a cocktail party with Vladimir Ashkenazy; 
and an intimate dinner at Mures Upper Deck with guests 
of honour Piers Lane and Howard Shelley.

These five events raised a total of $30,597.

Thank you to sponsors and supporters of these events: 
Foot & Playsted, The Henry Jones Art Hotel, Hobart City 
Council, Islington Hotel, Jill Mure, National Trust of 
Australia (Tasmania), Pipers Brook Vineyard, Vasse Felix 
and Wrest Point.

Thank you also to the volunteer committee members 
who organise and manage the TSO special events in 
Launceston and Hobart: David Askey-Doran, Janet 
Bilson, Gemma Black, Alice Bowman-Shaw, Jane Boyle, 
Lucy Carrig Jones, Joan Green, Caryl McQuestin, Sandra 
Robinson, Geraldine Stokes and Michelle Warren.

of MONA, Clemenger Tasmania, Font PR, Launceston 
City Council, Wrest Point, Glenorchy City Council, Hobart 
City Council, Island Specialty Timbers, The Old Woolstore, 
Southern Water and TassieLink.

The Hydro Tasmania AccessTix program continued with many 
hundreds of tickets being given to disadvantaged Tasmanians 
to experience live TSO concerts. This program involves about 30 
charity organisation and is supported by Reclink Australia and  
is seen as an important link with the Tasmanian community.

Marketing and  
business deveLopMent
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culture  
for the  
cheap
skate

Marko Letonja’s  Season 2012

the new $30 Live it up Live student season pass 
gives you entry to over 20 tso concerts.

tso.coM.au
Marko Letonja’s  

Season 2012

‘I love my stereo, but I  
love the exhilaration of a  
  live concert even more .’

Wendy Page  
Principal Horn

Live It Up Live poster ads

The TSO and BMW launch their partnership at BMW Autohaus, 
Hobart.

(clockwise from left) Martin Penicka, Chris Nicholas, Douglas 
Mackie, Janet Rutherford, Susie Stevenson and Marko Letonja at 
an AccessTix lunchtime concert held at Hydro Tasmania, Hobart.

philanthropy & special events
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Yvonne and Keith Adkins 
Peter and Ruth Althaus 
Jane and Rex Bean 
Hans Bosman and  
Sue Madden
Aileen Buchan 
Mrs Dianne Bye 
Heather Cartledge 
George and Jan Casimaty
Don Challen AM and  
Anne Challen
Ian Chambers and  
Kathryn Arneman 
Joan and Barry Chapman 
Dr Alastair Christie 
Peter Cochrane 
Stephanie Cooper 
The Cretan Family 
Dr Louise Crossley 
John Dickens and  
Dr Ian Payne 

Tom and Pauline Dorey 
Professor David Elliott 
Hansjuergen Enz 
Forward Consultancy 
Emeritus Professor A R  
and Dr O F Glenn 
Dr Duncan Grant 
Joan Green 
Patricia Haley 
Barbara Harling 
Brian and Jacky Hartnett 
Dr Geoffrey Haward AM  
and Mrs Phyllis Haward 
Robyn and John Hawkins 
Dr Don Hempton and  
Mrs Jasmine Hempton
Peter and Jeanne Hepburn 
Nicholas Heyward and 
Allanah Dopson 
Colin Jackson OAM and  
Mrs Dianne Jackson

Darrell Jones and  
James Mainwaring 
Veronica Keach 
Andrew and Elizabeth Kemp
Doone Kennedy AO 
Colin Kent and Deanne Cooper 
Linda and Martin Luther 
David McEwan AM and  
Mrs Jennifer McEwan
Macquarie Accounting
Katherine Marsden 
Michael Mellor and  
Elaine Soutar 
Senator Christine Milne 
Leon and Susan Morrell 
Jill Mure 
Kim Paterson 
John and Marilyn Pugsley
Eryl and Steve Raymond 
Jan and Alan Rees
Patricia H Reid 

Dr John Roberts and  
Mrs Barbara Roberts
Mr and Mrs S Roberts 
Brian Shearer 
Dr Tony Sprent AM 
Tony Stacey AM and  
Mrs Jeanette Stacey 
Dr Jane Tolman 
Alan Trethewey and  
Jean Trethewey OAM

Philip and Frances Tyrell 
His Excellency the Governor 
the Honourable Peter 
Underwood AC and  
Mrs Frances Underwood 
John Upcher 
Catherine Walker PSM  
and John Cauchi SC

Michelle Warren 
Michael Wilkinson 
Geoff and Vicki Willis 
J Zimmerman 
Anonymous x 13

CHIEF CONDUCTOR AND 
ARTISTIC DIRECTOR
Anonymous

CONCERTMASTER 
Mike and Carole Ralston

ASSOCIATE
CONCERTMASTER 
R H O’Connor

PRINCIPAL SECOND VIOLIN
Dr Joanna de Burgh

PRINCIPAL FIRST VIOLIN 
Lisa Roberts

RANK AND FILE VIOLIN 
Bruce Neill and Penny Clive

RANK AND FILE VIOLIN 
Warwick Rule

PRINCIPAL VIOLA 
John and Jo Strutt

PRINCIPAL CELLO 
Richard and Gill Ireland

PRINCIPAL DOUBLE BASS 
Patricia Leary

PRINCIPAL FLUTE 
Ian Hicks

PRINCIPAL OBOE 
Professor David Rich  
and Mrs Glenys Rich

OBOE/COR ANGLAIS 
Julius and Gabriella Vertessy

PRINCIPAL CLARINET 
Dr Peter Stanton

RANK AND FILE CLARINET 
Tim and Louise Mooney

PRINCIPAL BASSOON 
Julia Farrell

RANK AND FILE BASSOON 
Alan and Hilary Wallace

PRINCIPAL HORN 
Mr Kenneth von Bibra AM 
and Mrs Berta von Bibra OAM

PRINCIPAL TRUMPET 
Joy Selby Smith

PRINCIPAL TROMBONE 
Andrew Tulloch

PRINCIPAL TIMPANI 
John and Marilyn Canterford

PRINCIPAL HARP 
Dr and Mrs Michael Treplin

PRINCIPAL PERCUSSION 
Helen Rule

CHORUSMASTER 
Anonymous 

chair patrons – $5,000+

patrons – $1,000+

John and Marilyn Canterford Mike and Carole Ralston

impresario patrons – gifts of $50,000+

Patricia Leary R H O’Connor

maestro patrons – gifts of $20,000+
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geoff willis was appointed to the Board of the TSO in September 2004 and became 

Chairman in January 2006. He is the Chairman of Colorpak Ltd, the Chairman of Aurora 

Energy Pty Ltd and a Trustee of the Tasmanian Museum and Art Gallery. He was the CEO 

of Hydro Tasmania from 1999 to 2006 and prior to that was the Managing Director of the 

Amcor Paper Group. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce and an MBA from the University of 

Melbourne and attended the Stanford Executive Programme. He is a Certified Practising 

Accountant and a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

patricia leary joined the TSO Board in February 2006 and was appointed 

Deputy Chair in December of that year. She is Chair of the Northern Territory Police 

Arbitral Tribunal, Chair of the Tasmania Police Review Board, Chair of the Red Cross 

Tasmania Bushfire Appeal 2013 Distribution Committee and Chair of the Centenary 

of ANZAC Steering Committee. She is a Member of the Australian Institute of Judicial 

Administration, Member of the Australian Association of Women Judges, Member of the 

National Executive of Neighbourhood Watch Australasia, Secretary/Vice-President of 

Neighbourhood Watch Tasmania and Assistant Secretary of Virtuosi Tasmania Inc.

nicholas heyward has been Managing Director of the Tasmanian Symphony 

Orchestra since October 2001. He holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) from the University 

of Tasmania and worked in management roles in major performing arts organisations 

in Australia and the United Kingdom before becoming CEO of the Brisbane Biennial 

International Festival of Music and CEO of the Adelaide Festival of Arts. He is Chairman 

of Symphony Services International, a Director of Arts Management Tasmania Pty Ltd, 

a Member of the Theatre Royal Management Board, a Member of the National Trust of 

Australia (Tasmania) Members Advocacy Committee and a Member of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors.

john upcher was appointed to the TSO Board in September 2007. A former 

partner of the law firm Dobson, Mitchell & Allport, he has been on the board of a 

number of Tasmanian arts companies and is a former member of the Tasmanian Arts 

Advisory Board and former Chairman of the Allport Library and Museum of Fine Arts 

Management Committee. He is currently a Trustee of the Allport Bequest, Chairman of 

the Property Agents Board, a Member of the Legal Profession Board of Tasmania and a 

Director of the Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Foundation Ltd.

paul oxley was elected to the TSO Board in May 2008. He has a Licentiate of Music 
from the Australian Music Examination Board and was the inaugural TSO Chorusmaster 
when the TSO Chorus was established in 1992. He holds an MBA from the University 
of Tasmania, a Bachelor of Letters from Deakin University and a Diploma in Corporate 
Management from Chartered Secretaries Australia. He is a Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Secretaries and a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.  
He is an Executive Manager and Company Secretary of Transend Networks Pty Ltd, the 
owner and operator of the electricity transmission system in Tasmania.

Professor david rich, who was elected to the TSO Board in May 2008, is Provost of 
the University of Tasmania. In that role, he is senior deputy to the Vice-Chancellor and has 
responsibility for the faculties, academic staffing, the campuses, quality assurance and 
standards, marketing and communications, and community engagement. He previously 
worked at the University of New England in Armidale New South Wales, Macquarie 
University in Sydney and the University of Exeter in the United Kingdom. He graduated 
with MA and PhD degrees from the University of Cambridge. With a background as a 
geographer, he has worked extensively in the field of e-learning. He was a Member of 
the Board of the Tasmanian Academy from 2009 to 2011, and is currently a Member 
of the Management Committee of Theatre North in Launceston. He is a Member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

maria grenfell was elected to the TSO Board in May 2009. She holds a Doctor 
of Musical Arts from the University of Southern California, an MA from the Eastman 
School of Music and an MMus from the University of Canterbury in New Zealand. She is 
Senior Lecturer and Co-ordinator of Composition at the Conservatorium of Music at the 
University of Tasmania where she has been a lecturer since 1998. A represented composer 
at the Australian Music Centre and SouNZ Centre for New Zealand Music, her music has 
been commissioned, performed and recorded by symphony orchestras and chamber groups 
in Australia, New Zealand and the USA.

donald challen am was appointed to the TSO Board in November 2010. 
Secretary with the Department of Treasury and Finance between 1993 and 2010, he is 
Chairman of the Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation, Chairman of Transend Networks 
Pty Ltd, Chairman of the Motor Accidents Insurance Board and a Trustee Director of the 
Retirement Benefits Fund. Former roles include Director of Hydro Tasmania, Chairman 
of the Tasmanian Gaming Commission, a Director of Trust Bank and a Member of the 
Australian Government Financial Reporting Council. He is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, a 
Fellow of CPA Australia and a Fellow of the Institute of Public Administration Australia.  
He holds a Master of Economics from the University of Tasmania. In the Australia Day 2013 
Honours List he was appointed a Member of the Order of Australia ‘for significant service 
to economics, and to public administration in Tasmania in the treasury and finance sector.’.
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1.  lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight

A formal Charter for the Board was adopted in 2009. 
The Charter clearly articulates authority delegated to 
management for delivering the required outcomes of 
the strategic direction determined by the Board. Further, 
it provides the delegation of authority to the following 
Board Committees:
• Audit and Risk Committee
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee
• Key Artistic Advisory Committee

The roles of the Chair, Managing Director and Company 
Secretary are all formally recorded in the Charter. The 
Charter also specifies that the ultimate responsibility for 
approval of corporate strategies and objectives, budgets, 
plans and policies developed by management is that of 
the Board. The Board develops an annual program and 
management brings the major strategic, business and 
policy matters to the Board in an orderly program.

Early in the year the Board approves the performance 
program for the ensuing year subject to subsequent 
budgeting which must, in the normal course, be a 
surplus budget. The Board considers and approves  
an amended performance program in light of 
management recommendations once the budgeting 
process has been completed.

The annual calendar of meetings also includes a specific 
planning day set aside for strategic planning discussion.

The Board receives monthly financial reports with 
management commentary on variations from the budget.

The Board delegates authority to management for 
annual capital expenditure within the approved budget 
but retains authority to approve material capital 
expenditure which exceeds that budget.

New Director induction includes a pack of relevant 
company documentation and an in-depth brief on major 
operational, structural and financial aspects from the 
Chair, Managing Director and Company Secretary. 

This Governance Report is provided in respect  
of Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Holdings Ltd (TSOH) 
and its 100% owned subsidiary, Tasmanian Symphony 
Orchestra Pty Ltd (TSO), for the year  
ended 31 December, 2012 (the Group).

TSOH’s Constitution was designed to effect the 
governance reforms from the Australian Government’s 
Review of Orchestras. In this regard we are pleased 
to report that the membership base for TSOH at the 
end of 2012 was 352 Members. TSOH held its Annual 
General Meeting in May 2012, at which the Members 
were provided with a report from the Chair and the 
Managing Director, and later in the meeting they  
re-elected Directors Pat Leary and Maria Grenfell.

During 2012 the Board’s oversight of the TSO met  
or exceeded the ‘Essential governance practices for 
arts organisations’, as referred to in the 2012-14 
Tripartite Funding Agreement. To demonstrate this, 
specific comments and examples are provided for 
each of the following guiding principles.

production of the Strategic Business Plan. The Board has 
established the following Committees to provide closer 
attention to key areas of governance:
• Audit and Risk Committee TSOH
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee TSOH & TSO
• Key Artistic Advisory Committee TSO

The Board conducts regular reviews of its own 
performance and that of its Committees. In addition, 
during 2012 an external review of the Board was 
conducted by a company director with many years of 
board experience at a high level.

3.  promote ethical and 
responsible decision making

Independence of Directors is considered to be of vital 
importance and where a conflict arises it is declared and  
an abstention from participating in voting is exercised.

Disclosure of interest and potential conflicts of interest 
were declared and managed appropriately. The Board 
actively encourages and demonstrates by its actions that 
it expects an organisational culture based on high ethical 
values. During the year the Board did not need to examine 
any matter in detail with regard to ethical behaviour.

Major decisions of the Board were typically examined 
over a number of meetings thereby allowing full 
consideration of the matters relevant to the decision.

The Board encourages ‘whole of company’ information 
sessions and these encompass a wide range of topics 
including behaviour within the workplace. Relevant 
policies and procedures are documented and further 
progress was made on a consolidated handbook that  
will include a ‘Code of Conduct’.

4. promote diversity
The Board actively encourages an organisational culture 
that embraces diversity. 

Current work practices are deliberately inclusive and a 
culture of respect and equality exists. Development of  
a formal diversity policy is being undertaken.

All employees have formal position descriptions and 
letters of appointment which clearly set out conditions 
of employment, including required outcomes. Employees 
undergo an annual performance appraisal by their immediate 
manager, which is in turn reviewed and approved by the 
Managing Director. The annual review of the Managing 
Director, Artistic Director and Concert Master is undertaken 
by the Chairman in consultation with Board members and 
ultimately reported back to the Board.

The Board has ensured, through its own reservation of 
authority, its delegation of authority together with the 
imposed limits in respect of those delegations that no 
individual has unfettered powers.

2.  structure the board to  
add value

The TSOH Constitution provides for the election of up to 
six Directors by members. A further three Directors may 
be appointed by the Board should it consider that an 
appropriate skill mix and relevant expertise is not otherwise 
evident. Directors either elected by Members or appointed 
by the Board are usually initially appointed for a three-year 
term and able to serve a maximum of nine consecutive 
years, after which time they must retire. Annual elections 
ensure refreshment of Directors and skill mix.

The TSO Constitution provides for the appointment  
and removal of up to eight Directors by its parent,  
TSOH, and one Director appointed by the Board as the  
Managing Director. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee regularly 
reviews the Board’s skills mix.

The responsibilities and authorities of the Board, Chief 
Executive Officer and Company Secretary not otherwise 
contained within the Corporations Act 2001 are clearly 
stated in the Delegations Manual.

The Chair is elected by the Board and is responsible for the 
efficient and effective functioning of the Board, including, 
but not limited to, the discussion on and determination 
of strategic direction of the Group and ultimately the 
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5.  safeguard integrity in 
financial reporting

The Audit and Risk Committee has a formal Charter which has 
been approved by the Board. The Committee has a schedule of 
regular meetings at which it reviews and considers:
• Financial Statements for the previous year
• Risk Management Report
• Budget for the forthcoming year
•  Any other matter that falls within the scope of the 

Committee including capital expenditure.

The Committee comprised Directors who would each  
be regarded as having a high level of accounting and 
finance skills.

The composition of the committee for 2012 included Paul 
Oxley (Chairman), Geoffrey Willis and Donald Challen AM. 
During 2013 the Committee will comprise Donald Challen 
AM (Chairman), Geoffrey Willis (until May 2013), Pat Leary 
and David Rich.

The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer attend 
Audit and Risk Committee meetings.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as external 
auditor from 2011 for a period of three years. 

The Committee reviewed statutory and management 
accounting statements and considered related accounting 
policy issues. The Managing Director and Chief Financial 
Officer provided the Board with a signed representation 
letter attesting that the company’s Financial Statements 
present a true and fair view of the company’s current 
financial position and are in accordance with relevant 
legislative requirements and accounting standards.

The review of financial performance is a regular monthly 
agenda item for the Board.

6.  recognise the legitimate 
interests of stakeholders

To ensure the Board meets its legal and reporting 
requirements, the management and Board work to  
a year planner, which is structured around ensuring 
compliance with the legal and reporting requirements  
of funding organisations.

Additionally, through its Company Secretary, it has 
practices in place to ensure it complies with its  
statutory requirements. 

Tessitura, the company’s customer relationship 
management system, enhances the already very efficient 
and effective management of the broad variety of 
stakeholders. It enables very targeted, or equally quite 
broad, dissemination of information.

Where not covered by statute, the company has policies, 
procedures and agreements in place to ensure the rights 
of individuals within the workplace and in a broader sense 
the rights of the community are recognised.

At various levels throughout the company, individuals are 
responsible for communicating with funding organisations, 
the Friends of the Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra (FOTSO), 
Education Committees and other key stakeholders a range 
of changes to the circumstances of the company. Key drivers 
of the strategy for reporting to funding organisations are the 
requirements as set out in the Tripartite Funding Agreement 
2012 – 2014. The requirements range from routine matters 
through to budgeted strategic business plans. Further to 
this there is regular communication by key managers and 
Directors at senior government level.

The Annual Report for 2012 will record that the TSO 
had, artistically, a very successful year. The small deficit 
was largely due to a decision made by the Board to 
strategically invest in securing a better philanthropic 
fundraising stream into the future. The artistic success and 
strategy for improving the philanthropic income stream 
into the future were and are, in no small amount, due to 
the diligence, experience and encouragement provided by 
the Board throughout the year.

7.  recognise and manage risk
The Board reviews and manages risk through its Audit and 
Risk Committee.  It has established a Risk Report and Risk 
Analysis; the objectives of which are:

• To promote a risk aware culture;

•  To develop a strategic enterprise risk profile of TSO  
and to provide a basis to identify relevant priorities 
and actions to better enable TSO to successfully 
achieve its objectives;

• To provide an overview of existing control effectiveness;

• To provide input to TSO’s planning process;

•  To involve management and staff in risk ownership 
and management and to embed risk management;

•  To provide a basis from which to report regularly to 
stakeholders on key risk issues.

Management prepares draft revisions of the Risk Report 
and Risk Analysis and these are reviewed twice during the 
year by both the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board.

The methodology applied is consistent with the Australian/
New Zealand Risk Management Standard AS/NZS ISO 
31000:2009 and the key elements of that methodology  
are the consequences and impact parameters.

The Risk Report and Risk Analysis comments on each  
of the following for each identified risk:

• Risk description

• Possible causes

• Possible consequences

• Current controls

• Residual risk rating

• Further actions required and due date

• Risk owner

Additionally the Board, together with the external 
auditor, require that the Managing Director and Chief 
Financial Officer sign a Representation letter attesting 
to a wide range of representations including, but not 
limited to:

•  Financial Statements give a true and fair view of  
the financial position, performance and cash flows  
of the Group;

•  The entity has a system of internal controls adequate 
to enable the preparation of accurate financial reports 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Corporations Act 2001;

•  They acknowledge responsibility for the design, 
implementation and maintenance of internal controls to 
prevent and detect fraud;

•  They disclose the results of their assessment of the risk 
that the Financial Statements may be materially misstated 
as result of fraud.

Further, the Board and/or the Audit and Risk Committee 
members are freely able to make additional enquiries.

The Board recognises the potential for conflict between the 
Managing Director and the Artistic Director in day-to-day 
management issues and to this end provides guidance and 
oversight through the Chair on such matters. 

8.  remunerate fairly  
and responsibly

Enterprise Agreements for musicians and staff were agreed 
during the year. 

The Board is conscious of the need to keep remuneration 
of musicians in alignment with other orchestras and 
remuneration for executives and staff in alignment with 
industry and community standards so that we can recruit and 
retain, but is mindful of the limited resources of the company.

An ongoing major initiative is the restructuring of the 
assessment process, which has the objective of remunerating 
fairly and responsibly.

The Managing Director’s performance is reviewed in detail 
each year by a special committee of the Chair and the 
Deputy Chair before an overall review is conducted by  
the Board.

Non-executive Directors do not receive any remuneration 
from the company.

 

 

 

Geoffrey L Willis
Chair
9 April 2013
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Soprano
Alice Bowman-Shaw
Christine Boyce
Karen Cockrill
Carmelita Coen
Ruth Croser
Felicity Gifford
Debra Jensen
Loretta Johnston
Sheila Knowlton
Ulla Knox-Little
Bernadette Large
Heather McCallum
Stephanie McDonald
Schuya Murray 
Christine Ovens
Julianne Panckridge
Carolyn Poortenaar
Sharon Sherman
Yasmin Shoobridge
Maria Stephens
Joy Tattam
Frances Underwood
Sally Ward
Susannah Williams
Simone Yemm 

Alto
Claire Blichfeldt
Sally Brown
Terry Choi-Lundberg 
Beth Coombe 
Elizabeth Eden 
Jennifer Fürst 
Ann Godber
Sue Harradence

Christine Harris
Clare Hawkins
Kirsten Jones
Marie Keane
Mary McArthur
Caroline Miller
Sally Mollison
Jennifer Phillips
Eryl Raymond
Jennifer Thain
Sally Vance
Gillian von Bertouch
Beth Warren
Michelle Warren
Susan Williams

Tenor
Andrew Bainbridge
Peter Ball
Simon Beswick
John Dalton
Hilary Fawcett
Peter Fawcett
Bill Field
Michael Kregor
Bill MacDonald 
Tony Marshall 
Dianne O’Toole 
Paul Oxley
David Pitt
James Powell-Davies
Emerson Shuey
Christopher Spiegel
Peter Tattam 
Andrew Tulloch

Violin
Jun Yi Ma Concertmaster
Elinor Levy  
     Associate Concertmaster
Lucy Carrig Jones  
     Principal Second
Daniel Kossov Principal First
Rohana Brown
Miranda Carson
Yue-Hong Cha
Cherelle Gadge
Michael Johnston
Christine Lawson
Susanna Lazaroff
Alison Lazaroff-Somssich
Monica Naselow
Christopher Nicholas

Viola 
Janet Rutherford*
Katie Betts
Rodney McDonald
William Newbery
Anna Roach

Cello 
Sue-Ellen Paulsen*
Ivan James
Martin Penicka
Brett Rutherford

Double Bass 
Stuart Thomson*
Robin Brawley
Michael Fortescue

Flute 
Douglas Mackie*
Lloyd Hudson Piccolo

Oboe
David Nuttall*
Dinah Woods Cor Anglais

Clarinet
Andrew Seymour*
Chris Waller Bass Clarinet

Bassoon 
Lisa Storchheim*
John Panckridge  
     Contrabassoon

Horn 
Wendy Page*
Heath Parkinson*
Roger Jackson
Greg Stephens

Trumpet 
Yoram Levy*
Mark Bain

Trombone 
Donald Bate*
Liam O’Malley

Bass Trombone
Robert Clark*

Tuba
Timothy Jones*

Timpani
Matthew Goddard*

Percussion 
Gary Wain*

Harp
Vacancy#

*principal player
#guest principal

orchestra

tso chorus
June Tyzack Chorusmaster
Andrew Bainbridge Assistant Chorusmaster
Karen Smithies Répétiteur

Marko Letonja Chief Conductor & Artistic Director
Lyndon Terracini Australian Music Program Director

friends of the tso 
(fotso) committee
Diane Truskett President
Margaret McKerracher Vice-President
Keith Anderson Secretary
Grant Taylor Treasurer
Max Collins
Muriel Morillon
Tina Pinkard
Carol Samuelson
Mike Scott
Lisa Harris TSO Staff Representative
William Newbery Player Representative

Total number of FOTSO members: 543

education advisory 
committees
Southern Tasmania
Susan Williams Chair
Andrew Bainbridge
Jan Butler
Carolyn Cross
Mary Faulkner
Melvin Freestone
Gaye Headlam
Jenny Kleywegt
Jennie MacDonald

Northern Tasmania
Susan Williams Chair
Barry Dudgeon
Heidi Elgersma
Mhairi Ford
Stephen King
Paul Mannion
Peter Quigley

staff
Executive
Nicholas Heyward Managing Director
Kate Stuart Executive Assistant

Artistic Management
Simon Rogers Manager, Artistic Planning
Alexis Aitken Artistic and Chorus  
 Coordinator
Kate Gray Education and Training  
 Coordinator

Business Services
Colin Norris Chief Financial Officer and  
 Company Secretary
Fiona Bounds Finance Officer
Amanda Elder Payroll Officer
Kylie Barry Human Resources Consultant
Hayden Jones Finance Assistant

Marketing and Business 
Development
John Pugsley Manager, Marketing and  
 Corporate Partnerships
Lisa Harris Manager, Philanthropy and  
 Special Events
Robert Gibson Publications Editor
Angela Bain Corporate Partnerships  
 Executive (until January)
Gabrielle Lis Corporate Partnerships  
 Executive (from April)
James Burrows Marketing Coordinator
Brenda Fehlberg Box Office Coordinator
Darrell Jones Assistant Box Office  
 Coordinator

Orchestra Management
Greg Low Orchestra Manager
Jacqui Walkden Orchestral Coordinator
Ian Wollstein Technical Coordinator
Katey Sutcliffe Orchestra Librarian
Brian Harris Production Assistant

Bass
John Ballard
Aaron Benham
David Brewer
Nathan Bush
Chris Carolan 
Rowan Clymo- 
   Rowlands
Peter Cretan
Greg Foot
James Gath
Garry Harradence
Peter Hepburn
Sam Hindell
Duncan How
Stefan Karpiniec
Phillip Kimber
Lincoln Law
Isaac Letchford
John Martin
Tony Parker
Paul Radford
Steve Raymond
Dick Shoobridge
Merv Simmons
Anthony Sprent
Grant Taylor

ManageMent, fotso coMMittee 
and education coMMittees



‘No matter how brilliant,  
a recording can only

   keep repeating itsel f .’
Sue-Ellen Paulsen  

Principal Cello
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26

 

 

Directors’ Report 28

Statement of Comprehensive Income 32

Statement of Financial Position 33

Statement of Changes in Equity 34

Statement of Cash Flows 35

Notes to the Financial Statements 36

Directors’ Declaration 57

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 58

Independent Audit Report 59

annuaL  
financiaL  
report

 31 december  

2012

tasManian syMphony orchestra hoLdings LiMited (acn 122 619 630)

core pubLic support

preMier partners

Media supporters

we aLso wish to thank

Major partners

partners
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directors’ report
For the year ended 31 december 2012

The directors present their report together with the 
consolidated financial report of Tasmanian Symphony 
Orchestra Holdings Limited and its subsidiary Tasmanian 
Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd (the Orchestra) for the  
year ended 31 December 2012 and the auditor’s  
report thereon.

directors
The directors, at any time during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2012 and until the date of this 
report, are:

Geoffrey Willis (Chairman)

Patricia Leary (Deputy Chairman)

Nicholas Heyward (Managing Director)

John Upcher

Paul Oxley

David Rich

Maria Grenfell

Donald Challen AM   

qualifications of directors
Geoffrey Willis (Chairman)
• Bachelor of Commerce, University of Melbourne
• MBA, University of Melbourne
• Stanford Executive Programme
• CPA
• MAICD
• Chairman, Colorpak Limited
• Trustee of Tasmanian Museum and Art Gallery
• Chairman, Aurora Energy Pty Ltd
• Chairman, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd

Patricia Leary (Deputy Chairman)
• MAICD
• Member, Australian Institute of Judicial 

Administration
• Member, Australian Association of Women Judges
• Chair, Northern Territory Police Arbitral Tribunal
• Chair, Tasmania Police Review Board
• Member, National Executive of Neighbourhood 

Watch Australasia
• Secretary/Vice-President, Neighbourhood Watch 

Tasmania
• Chair, Red Cross Tasmania Bushfire Appeal 2013 

Distribution Committee
• Chair, Centenary of ANZAC Steering Committee
• Assistant Secretary, Virtuosi Tasmania Inc.
• Deputy Chairman, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra 

Pty Ltd

Nicholas Heyward (Managing Director)
• Bachelor of Arts (Hons) University of Tasmania
• MAICD
• Chairman, Symphony Services International
• Director, Arts Management Tasmania Pty Ltd
• Member, Theatre Royal Management Board
• Member, National Trust of Australia (Tasmania) 

Members Advocacy Committee (Hobart)
• Director, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd

John Upcher
• LLB (Hons), University of Tasmania
• MAICD
• Trustee of the Allport Bequest
• Chairman, Property Agents Board 
• Member, Legal Profession Board of Tasmania
• Director, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra  

Foundation Limited
• Director, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd

Paul Oxley
• MBA, University of Tasmania
• Bachelor of Letters, Deakin University
• Diploma in Corporate Management, Chartered 

Secretaries Australia
• Licentiate of Music, Australian Music  

Examination Board
• Chartered Secretary (FCIS)
• MAICD
• Executive Manager and Company Secretary, 

Transend Networks Pty Ltd
• Director, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd

David Rich
• MA, PhD (University of Cambridge)
• Provost, University of Tasmania
• MAICD
• Member, Management Committee of Theatre North
• Director, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd

Maria Grenfell
• Doctor of Musical Arts, University of Southern 

California
• Master of Arts, Eastman School of Music
• Master of Music, University of Canterbury NZ
• Senior Lecturer and Co-ordinator of Composition, 

University of Tasmania’s Conservatorium of Music
• Licentiate of Music, Trinity College, London
• Represented composer, Australian Music Centre, 

SouNZ Centre for New Zealand Music
• Director, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd

Donald Challen AM

• Bachelor of Economics (Hons), University of Tasmania
• Master of Economics, University of Tasmania
• FCA
• FCPA
• FAICD
• FIPAA
• Chairman, Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation
• Chairman, Transend Networks Pty Ltd
• Chairman, Motor Accidents Insurance Board
• Trustee Director, Retirement Benefits Fund

company secretary 
Colin Norris FIPA, MAICD, CSA (Cert)

principal activities
The principal activities of the Orchestra during the year 
ended 31 December 2012 were the performance and 
recording of orchestral music. There were no significant 
changes in the nature of the activities of the Orchestra 
during the year.
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review and results  
of operations
The Orchestra gave 68 performances during the 12 
months ended 31 December 2012. The concerts held 
throughout Tasmania were anchored around 12 Master 
Series concerts in Hobart and five Launceston Series 
concerts, one performance in Melbourne and seven 
performances in Perth accompanying the Australian 
Ballet’s Perth Season of Romeo and Juliet. Another 
notable collaboration was that with The Museum of New 
and Old Art (MONA) in the MONA Synaesthesia Festival. 
There were also numerous recordings and national 
broadcasts of concerts.

During the year the company expended $60,028  
as part of a strategy to develop the company’s 
philanthropic revenue.

The operating result for the year ended 31 December 
2012 amounted to a loss of $40,229 following a surplus 
of $90,584 for the year ended 31 December 2011.  

changes in state of affairs
In the opinion of the directors, there were no significant 
changes in the underlying state of affairs of the Group 
that occurred during the year ended 31 December 2012.

likely developments
The Orchestra will continue to present performances 
of music during the next financial year. The Orchestra’s 
continuing success is dependent on an appropriate 
level of government funding, corporate sponsorship, 
donations and ticket sales.

dividends
No dividends were paid or proposed during the  
financial year.

indemnification and 
insurance of officers  
and auditors
Indemnification

Since the end of the previous financial year, the 
Orchestra has not indemnified nor made a relevant 
agreement for indemnifying against a liability any 
person who is or has been an officer or auditor of  
the company.

Insurance premiums

During the financial period, the Orchestra has paid 
premiums in respect of directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance, legal expenses and insurance contracts for 
the period ended 31 December 2012. Since the end of 
the financial period, the Orchestra has paid or agreed 
to pay premiums in respect of such insurance contracts 
for the year ended 31 December 2013. Such insurance 
contracts insure persons who are or have been directors 
or officers of the Group against certain liabilities 
(subject to certain exclusions).

Directors have not included details of the nature of  
the liabilities covered nor the amount of the premium 
paid, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms  
of the contract.

events subsequent to balance date
No events have occurred subsequent to balance date that materially affect operations of the Orchestra, or the results 
of those operations or the state of affairs of the Orchestra in future years. 

directors’ meetings
The number of meetings of the Board of Directors and of Board Committees during the financial year were:

Board Audit and Risk Remuneration 
and Nominations

Key Artistic  
Advisory

Number of meetings eligible (E)

Number of meetings attended (A)
E A E A E A E A

Geoffrey Willis (Chairman) 11 10 7 6 - - 2 2

Patricia Leary (Deputy Chairman) 11 11 - - - - - -

Nicholas Heyward (Managing Director) 11 11 - - - - 2 2

John Upcher 11 10 - - - - - -

Paul Oxley 11 9 7 6 - - - -

David Rich 11 8 - - - - 2 1

Maria Grenfell 11 9 - - - - 2 2

Donald Challen AM 11 10 7 7 - - - -

Directors who were absent from meetings were so with the consent of the Board.

auditor’s independence declaration
The directors have received a declaration from the auditor, which is attached to this report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001: 

 

Geoffrey Willis
Director
Hobart, 27 March 2013
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 CONSOLIDATED
continuing operations Note 31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
REVENUES
Funding revenue direct from government 4 8,023,874 7,882, 440
Ticket sales 5 1,203,257 1,270,448
Sponsorship and donation revenue 6 523,310 370,820
Other revenue 7 1,140,191 750,271
  10,890,632 10,273,979

EXPENSES 

Employee expenses  6,430,886 5,884,306
Artists’ fees and expenses  893,794 907,468
Marketing expenses  463,647 448,971
Production expenses  1,271,477 1,049,046
Symphony Services International service fee  364,605 331,290
Accommodation expenses  469,701 422,254
Travel expenses  242,149 265,990
Other expenses from ordinary activities  662,164 739,966
Depreciation and amortisation 12 132,438 134,104
  10,930,861 10,183,395

Net profit before income tax  (40,229) 90,584

Income tax 2e - -

Net profit for the year  (40,229) 90,584

Other comprehensive income  - -

Total comprehensive income for the year  (40,229) 90,584
 
 

 

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 CONSOLIDATED
 Note 31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
CURRENT ASSETS  
Cash assets 19a 4,036,100 3,383,046
Trade and other receivables 9 373,256 272,463
Other financial assets 19c 2,018,666 2,198,666
Other current assets 10 148,122 260,884
Total current assets  6,576,144 6,115,059

NON-CURRENT ASSETS   

Plant and equipment 12 1,219,039 1,328,264
Total non-current assets  1,219,039 1,328,264

TOTAL ASSETS  7,795,183 7,443,323

CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Trade and other payables 13 476,814 419,005
Unearned revenue 14 1,480,512 1,357,162
Provisions 15 1,547,712 1,373,434
Total current liabilities  3,505,038 3,149,601

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   

Provisions 15 212,738 176,086
Total non-current liabilities  212,738 176,086

TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,717,776 3,325,687

NET ASSETS  4 077,407 4,117,636

EQUITY   

Contributed equity 16 175,214 175,214
Retained earnings  3,233,527 3,273,756
Reserves Incentive Scheme reserve 18 668,666 668,666
TOTAL EQUITY  4,077,407 4,117,636
 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

stateMent of  
coMprehensive incoMe

as at 31 deceMber 2012

stateMent of  
financiaL position
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 CONSOLIDATED
 Issued Retained Other Total
 Capital  Earnings  Reserves  Equity
   (Note 18)
 $ $ $ $

As at 1 January 2011 175,214  3,183,172 668,666 4,027,052
Total comprehensive income for the year - 90,584 - 90,584

As at 31 December 2011 175,214 3,273,756 668,666 4,117,636
Total comprehensive income for the year - (40,229) - (40,229)

As at 31 December 2012 175,214 3,233,527 668,666 4,077,407

 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

 CONSOLIDATED
 Note 31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash receipts in the course of operations  2,524,152 2,370,426
Cash payments in the course of operations   (10,465,458) (10,065,812)
Grants received from government funding bodies  8,041,839 7,890,777
Interest received  395,734 408,290
Net cash flows from operating activities 19b 496,267 603,681

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Payment for purchase of held to maturity investments  180,000 (635,830)
Payment for plant and equipment  (23,213) (361,511)
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities  156,787 (997,341)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HELD  653,054 (393,660)
Cash at the beginning of the financial year  3,383,046 3,776,706

CASH AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 19a 4,036,100 3,383,046

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

for the year ended 31 deceMber 2012

stateMent of  
changes in equity

for the year ended 31 deceMber 2012

stateMent of  
cash fLows



tasManian syMphony orchestra hoLdings LiMited (acn 122 619 630)tasManian syMphony orchestra hoLdings LiMited (acn 122 619 630)36 37

For the year ended 31 december 2012

notes to and Forming part 
oF the Financial statements

For the year ended 31 december 2012

notes to and Forming part 
oF the Financial statements

1. corporate information
  The financial report of Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited and its controlled entity for the  

year ended 31 December 2012 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of directors on  
27 March 2013.

  Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited is a public company limited by guarantee incorporated  
in Australia. The address of the registered office is:

  Federation Concert Hall
 1 Davey Street
 Hobart TAS 7000
 The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report.

2.  statement of significant accounting policies
a) Basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared as a general purpose financial report and complies with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

For the purpose of preparing this financial report, the entity is a not-for-profit entity.

The financial report has been prepared on the historical cost basis.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.

b) Statement of compliance
Compliance with IFRS

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year.

Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

There are a number of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued 
or amended but are not yet effective, and have not been early-adopted by the company for the financial 
report for the year ending 31 December 2012. The company does not expect the impact of these standards 
and interpretations will have a material impact on the company’s financial position and performance.

c) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra 
Holdings Limited and its subsidiary as at 31 December 2012.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, 
using consistent accounting policies.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-company balances and transactions, income 
and expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-Group transactions have been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to 
be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

d) Revenue recognition
Concert revenue

Concert revenue is recognised at the time of concert performance.

Funding revenue

Funding revenue comprises grants from the Australia Council (as represented by the Major Performing Arts 
Board) and the State Government of Tasmania through the Treasurer and Minister for the Arts and the 
Department of Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts.

Grant revenue is received from the Australia Council (as represented by the Major Performing Arts Board) 
and the State Government of Tasmania through the Treasurer and Minister for the Arts under the terms of 
the Tripartite Funding Agreement (2012 – 2014) entered into in 2011. 

ICON funding grant revenue is received from the State Government of Tasmania through the Department 
of Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts.

Funding revenue is recognised in respect of the applicable calendar year for which the funding is intended 
under the terms of the funding agreements. Special purpose funding, which requires the company to fulfil 
an obligation outside its normal operations, is recognised at the time the obligation is fulfilled.

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

e) Taxation
Income tax

The Group is exempt from income tax as it is an exempt charitable institution in accordance with 
Subdivision 50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

f) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of 
financial position. Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from,  
or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
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 2.  statement of significant accounting policies  
(continued) 

g) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate that the impairment may have reversed.

h) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and 
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

i) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables, which generally have 60-day terms, are recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any 
uncollectable amounts.

Collectability of trade and other receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts that are known  
to be uncollectable are written off when identified. An allowance for doubtful debts is raised when there 
is objective evidence that the company will not be able to collect the debt.

The amount of impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within  
other expenses.

j) Plant and equipment
All items of plant and equipment, leasehold improvements, furniture and fittings, office equipment 
and computers are carried at historical cost less any accumulated impairment losses and accumulated 
depreciation.

Depreciation and amortisation

Items of plant and equipment, leasehold improvements, furniture and fittings, office equipment and 
computers are depreciated using the straight-line and diminishing value methods over their estimated 
useful lives in the current and prior year.

The depreciation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:

Asset class Depreciation rates
Plant and equipment 6.5% - 9%
Leasehold improvements Straight-line over period of 20-year lease
Furniture and fittings 10%
Office equipment 10%
Computer equipment 20%

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at each financial year-end.

k) Leased plant and equipment
Leases of plant and equipment are classified as operating leases when the lessor retains substantially 
all of the risks and benefits of ownership. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

l) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due to their short-term nature they are not 
discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments 
in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 30 days of recognition.

m) Employee benefits
Wages, salaries and annual leave

The provisions for employee entitlement to wages, salaries and annual leave represent the amount which 
the company has a present obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services provided up to the balance 
date. The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current wage and salary rates 
and include related on-costs.

The carrying amount of the provision approximates net fair value.

Long service leave

The liability for employee entitlements to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made by the employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to the 
balance date.

Liabilities for employee entitlements which are not expected to be settled within twelve months are 
discounted using the rates attaching to Commonwealth government securities at balance date which 
most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities.
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2.  statement of significant accounting policies 
(continued) 

 m) Employee benefits (continued)

Long service leave (continued)

In determining the liability for employee entitlements, consideration is given to future increases in wage 
and salary rates, and the economic entity’s experience with staff departures. Related on-costs have also 
been included in the liability.

The carrying amount of the provision approximates net fair value.

Superannuation plans

The Group contributes to several accumulation superannuation plans.

Employer contributions in relation to the year ended 31 December 2012 have been expensed in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

No liability is shown for superannuation in the statement of financial position as the employer 
contributions to the various schemes fully extinguish the employer’s liability.

n) Other financial assets 
Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as 
held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments 
intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this classification. Investments that are 
intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised cost. This cost 
is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially recognised amount 
and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and interest paid or received between parties to 
the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums 
and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 
when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

 o) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the 
time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

p) Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity 
instruments.

3.  significant accounting judgements, estimates and 
assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires the directors, on advice from management, to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. 
Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent 
liabilities, revenue and expenses. The following critical accounting policies have been identified for which 
significant judgements, estimates and assumptions are made.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses impairment of its non-financial assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions 
specific to the Group and to the specific asset. If an impairment trigger exists the recoverable amount of the 
asset is determined. The Group considers there have been no impairment triggers in this financial period.

Make good provision

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs associated with the future restoration of 
the leased office premises. The estimate is periodically reviewed and updated. In the event that the provision is 
material it will be present valued. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in note 15.

Estimate of useful lives

The estimation of useful lives is based on historical experience. The condition of assets are assessed periodically 
and considered in relation to the remaining useful life of the asset and adjustments made to useful lives as 
appropriate.
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 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
4. funding revenue

Government direct funding
Australia Council 
     Annual grant  5,987,808 5,858,912
     MPAB Philanthropy Tour New York   4,000 -
     Shadow Dreams grant  - 20,000
  5,991,808 5,878,912

Tasmanian Department of Economic Development,  
Tourism and the Arts 
     Annual grant  1,496,952 1,464,728
     ICON funding  500,000 500,000
  1,996,952 1,964,728

Local government  10,114 9,800
Circular Head Council  - 2,000
Other funding  25,000 27,000
  8,023,874 7,882,440

A significant portion of the Group’s annual revenue consists of funding from the Australian Government 
and Tasmanian Government, through the Australia Council and the Tasmanian Department of Economic 
Development, Tourism and the Arts.

5. ticket sales

Subscription sales  537,682 528,576
Single ticket sales  665,575 741,872

  1,203,257 1,270,448

 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
6. sponsorship and donation revenue

Corporate sponsorship  238,985 177,219
Corporate donations  56,715 47,006
Individual donations  227,610 146,595

  523,310 370,820

7. other revenue
Interest income  340,593 382,411
Orchestral hire  321,439 78,580
Royalties  224 8,510
The Australian Ballet, Perth season  229,161 -
Other  248,774 280,770

  1,140,191 750,271

8. profit from continuing operations
Profit for the year from continuing operations has been arrived at after  
charging the following items:
Depreciation:   
     Plant and equipment  87,684 77,582
     Leasehold improvements  31,699 38,220
     Furniture and fittings  627 696
     Office equipment  1,911 1,994
     Computers  10,517 15,612

  132,438 134,104
Superannuation payments  966,074 889,834
Operating lease payments  283,538 282,380
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 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
9. trade and other receivables

Current 
Trade receivables  373,256 272,463
Provision for impairment of receivables   - -
  373,256 272,463

Past due but not impaired

Trade receivables over 60 days are past due but not impaired, as there is no objective evidence at 
reporting date that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due.
Trade receivables ageing 
0 to 60 days  329,755 264,916
61 to 90 days (past due but not impaired)  12,303 -
Over 90 days (past due but not impaired)  31,198 7,547

  373,256 272,463

10. other assets
Current 
Prepayments  88,181 152,408
Accrued income  59,941 108,476
  148,122 260,884

11. parent entity information
Information relating to Tasmanian  
Symphony Orchestra Holdings Ltd
Current assets  12,325 11,235
Total assets  1,186,799 1,185,691
Current liabilities  70 70
Total liabilities  70 70
Retained earnings  1,186,729 1,185,621
Total shareholders’ equity  1,186,729 1,185,621

Profit or (loss) of parent entity  1,108 (973)
Total comprehensive income of the parent entity  1,108 (973)

12. property, plant and equipment – consolidated
 Musical instruments Leasehold Furniture Office Computer Total
 and equipment improvements and fittings equipment equipment
 $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost 
Opening balance,
1 January 2012 1,314,084 538,163 13,984 35,873 115,744 2,017,848
Reclassification adjustment 142,135 (142,135) - - - -
Additions 21,332 - - - 4,307 25,639
Disposals - - - - (32,792) (32,792)
Closing balance 1,477,551 396,028 13,984 35,873 87,259 2,010,695

Accumulated depreciation  
Opening balance,
1 January 2012 (384,359) (182,719) (7,722) (22,189) (92,595) (689,584)
Depreciation expense (87,684) (31,699) (627) (1,911) (10,517) (132,438)
Reclassification adjustment (23,252) 23,252 - - - -
Disposals - - - - 30,365 30,365
Closing balance (495,295) (191,166) (8,349) (24,100) (72,747) (791,657)

Net book value, 
31 December 2012 982,256  204,862  5,635 11,773 14,512  1,219,039 

Net book value,
31 December 2011 929,725  355,444 6,262 13,684 23,149  1,328,264  

Cost 
Opening balance,
1 January 2011 1,008,068 492,782 13,984 35,873 122,242 1,672,949
Additions 306,016 45,381 - - 13,362 364,759
Disposals - - - - (19,860) (19,860)
Closing balance 1,314,084 538,163 13,984 35,873 115,744 2,017,848

Accumulated depreciation  
Opening balance,
1 January 2011 (306,777) (144,499) (7,026) (20,195) (93,595) (572,092)
Depreciation expense (77,582) (38,220) (696) (1,994) (15,612) (134,104)
Disposals - - - - 16,612 16,612
Closing balance (384,359) (182,719) (7,722) (22,189) (92,595) (689,584)

Net book value, 
31 December 2011 929,725  355,444  6,262 13,684 23,149  1,328,264  

Net book value,
31 December 2010 701,291  348,283 6,958 15,678 28,647  1,100,857 
The parent company does not hold any property, plant and equipment so only the consolidated property, 
plant and equipment are shown.
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 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $

13. trade and other payables
Trade payables  191,043 109,480
Other payables and accruals  285,771 309,525
  476,814 419,005

Trade and other payables ageing 

0 to 60 days  471,214 402,527
61 to 90 days  - -
Over 90 days  5,600 16,478

  476,814 419,005

14. unearned revenue
Funding grants in advance  
Tasmanian Department of Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts 805,462 787,498
  805,462 787,498

Ticket sales  675,050 536,378
Other  - 33,286

  1,480,512 1,357,162

15. provisions
Current 
Current employee entitlements  1,547,712 1,373,434
  1,547,712 1,373,434

Non-current  
Non-current employee entitlements  158,102 123,041
Make good provision   
Opening balance  53,045 51,500
Arising during the year  1,591 1,545
  54,636 53,045

  212,738 176,086

 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $

16. contributed equity

222,372 fully-paid ordinary shares  175,214 175,214
  175,214 175,214

On 31 December 2006 Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited purchased all shares of Tasmanian 
Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd that were previously held by the Australian Broadcasting Corporation. In 
the event of winding-up of the parent company, property shall be given or transferred to one or more 
institutions, selected by the board of the company at or before dissolution, having purposes similar to the 
purposes for which the company was incorporated.
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17. guarantee
Each member undertakes to contribute to the property of the company if the company is wound up while 
he, she or it is a member or within 1 year after he, she or it ceases to be a member, for payment of the 
company’s debts and liabilities contracted before he, she or it ceases to be a member and of the costs, 
charges and expenses of winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among 
themselves, such amount as may be required, but not exceeding $1.00.

18. reserves
 Reserves Incentive Scheme reserve
  The Reserves Incentive Scheme is designed to encourage and assist major performing arts companies to 

strengthen their financial position by building reserves to a level that is sufficient to underpin their financial 
health and provide a base from which to take appropriate artistic and access risks. These funds have been set 
aside, held in escrow and are unencumbered as per the Reserves Incentive Scheme Agreement. All income 
received on the funds received must be re-invested with the funds received and held in escrow until the Group 
has reached 20% of its annual costs as net assets to be determined on the basis of the audited financial result 
for that year. The term of escrow is 15 years from the date of the last payment by government into the reserve. 
Net assets reached the required 20% during the year ended 31 December 2006.

 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11 
  $ $

Opening balance at the beginning of the year  668,666 668,666
Accumulated funds at the end of the year  668,666 668,666

 

19. statement of cash flows
 a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank and short-term 

deposits at call, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. An amount of $668,666 is included in the cash balance 

and represents a deposit into the Reserves Incentive Scheme account. This amount is held in escrow and is 

unencumbered in accordance with the Reserves Incentive Scheme Agreement. Cash assets as at the end of 

the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows are as follows:

 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $

Cash and cash equivalents  4,036,100 3,383,046
  4,036,100  3,383,046

 b)  Reconciliation of surplus from ordinary  
activities to net cash from operating activities
Surplus/(loss) from ordinary activities  (40,229) 90,584
Add / (less) non-cash items:   
     Depreciation  132,438 134,104
Net cash from operating activities before change in assets and liabilities 92,209 224,688
Change in assets and liabilities:   
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (100,793) 276,420
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  112,762 114,561
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  57,809 (57,685)
Increase/(decrease) in unearned revenue  123,350 8,337
Increase/(decrease) in provisions  210,930 37,360
Net cash flows from operating activities  496,267 603,681

 c) Investments in financial assets
Held to maturity  2,018,666 2,198,666

  2,018,666 2,198,666

Held-to-maturity investments include term deposits with a maturity greater than three months.
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 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
20. employee entitlements

Current  1,547,712 1,373,434
Non-current  158,102 123,041

  1,705,814 1,496,475

Aggregate employee entitlements presented above include on-costs.
At year end, the Group employed 76 full-time equivalent employees  
(2011 – 74 full-time equivalent employees). 

21. key management personnel
 a) Details of key management personnel

(i) Directors
Geoffrey Willis Chairman
Patricia Leary Deputy Chairman
Nicholas Heyward Managing Director
John Upcher Director
Paul Oxley Director
David Rich Director
Maria Grenfell Director
Donald Challen AM Director

(ii) Executives
Colin Norris Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
John Pugsley Manager, Marketing and Corporate Partnerships
Simon Rogers Manager, Artistic Planning
Greg Low Orchestra Manager
Lisa Harris Manager, Philanthropy and Special Events

 b) Compensation of key management personnel
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $

Short-term employee benefits  699,007 638,898
Post-employment benefits    
     Superannuation  147,331 137,927
Total compensation  846,338 776,825

22. related parties
 a)  Directors

The names of each person holding the position of director of Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra 
Holdings Limited during the financial year are: 
G Willis, P Leary, N Heyward, J Upcher, P Oxley, D Rich, M Grenfell, D Challen AM.
N Heyward is the chief executive officer. M Grenfell is an occasional guest speaker with the Group. 
All other directors receive nil remuneration.
Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note 21.
Unless otherwise stated directors have been in office for the financial year.
Director J Upcher is the Company-nominated director of Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Foundation 
Ltd (ACN 131 401 440).

 b)  Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and 
their related parties
A director, Patricia Leary, was a committee member of Virtuosi Tasmania Inc. (ABN 87 407 472 627).  
All dealings with Virtuosi Tasmania Inc. are in the normal course of business. The Group provided 
services to Virtuosi Tasmania Inc. during the year amounting to $2,427 (GST exclusive) (2011 – $3,772). 
A director, Nicholas Heyward, was a director of Arts Management Tasmania Pty Ltd (ABN 84 123 
201 472) trading as Handmark Gallery. All dealings with Handmark Gallery are in the normal 
course of business. There was no trading between Handmark Gallery and the Group during the year  
(2011 – $1,507 GST inclusive). There were no donations by Handmark Gallery to the Group during the 
year (2011 – $745).
A director, Nicholas Heyward, was a director and chairman of directors of Symphony Australia Ltd 
(ABN 69 121 149 755) trading as Symphony Services International. All dealings with Symphony 
Services International are in the normal course of business. Symphony Services International provided 
services to the Group during the year amounting to $404,879 (GST inclusive) (2011 – $363,733 GST 
inclusive). The Group provided services to Symphony Services International during the year amounting 
to $60,500 (GST inclusive) (2011 – $44,000 GST inclusive).
A director, Nicholas Heyward, was a director of the Theatre Royal Management Board (ABN 90 787 
656 266) trading as Theatre Royal Hobart. All dealings with Theatre Royal Hobart are in the normal 
course of business. Theatre Royal Hobart provided services to the Group during the year amounting to 
$26,442 (GST inclusive) (2011 – $26,074).
A director, John Upcher, was a consultant to Dobson Mitchell & Allport (ABN 88 989 504 094).  
All dealings with Dobson Mitchell & Allport are in the normal course of business. Dobson Mitchell 
& Allport provided services to the Group during the year amounting to $464 (GST inclusive)  
(2011 – $2,353 GST inclusive).



tasManian syMphony orchestra hoLdings LiMited (acn 122 619 630)tasManian syMphony orchestra hoLdings LiMited (acn 122 619 630)52 53

For the year ended 31 december 2012

notes to and Forming part 
oF the Financial statements

For the year ended 31 december 2012

notes to and Forming part 
oF the Financial statements

22. related parties (continued)
A director, John Upcher, was a director of Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Foundation Ltd (ACN 131 
401 440). Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra acts as Trustee for the TSO Foundation Trust (ABN 59 
473 228 118). All dealings with Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Foundation Ltd are in the normal 
course of business. The Group provided administrative assistance to Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra 
Foundation Ltd during the year. The TSO Foundation Trust distributed $22,871 (GST exclusive) to the 
Group during the year (2011 – $15,436 GST exclusive).

A director, David Rich, was Provost of the University of Tasmania (ABN 20 056 132 661) trading as 
University of Tasmania. The company provided scholarship funding of $10,000 to the University of 
Tasmania during the year (2011 – nil) The University of Tasmania provided services to the Group 
amounting to $2,855 during the year (GST inclusive where applicable) (2011 – nil).

A director, David Rich, was a member of the Theatre North Management Committee (ABN 21 724 
173 054) trading as Theatre North Inc. Theatre North Inc. provided services to the Group amounting 
to $6,671 during the year (GST inclusive where applicable) (2011 – $24,749 GST inclusive where 
applicable).

A director, Maria Grenfell, was a senior lecturer at the Conservatorium of Music, University of 
Tasmania (ABN 20 056 132 661) trading as University of Tasmania. The Group provided scholarship 
funding of $10,000 to the University of Tasmania during the year (2011 – nil) The University of 
Tasmania provided services to the Group amounting to $2,855 during the year (GST inclusive where 
applicable) (2011 – nil).

 c) Subsidiary
The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2012 include the parent company’s 
one subsidiary in which it had 100% interest, Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd, which is 
incorporated in Australia and has the same balance date as that of the parent entity.

 d) Ultimate parent
Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited is the ultimate parent entity.

23. auditor remuneration
 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $

Auditing the financial report  20,320 19,500
Other services  - -

  20,320 19,500

No amounts are paid to the auditor by the parent entity. All amounts are paid by its subsidiary, Tasmanian 
Symphony Orchestra Pty Ltd. No other benefits were received by the auditor. The auditor of Tasmanian 
Symphony Orchestra Holdings Ltd is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

 CONSOLIDATED
  31/12/12 31/12/11
  $ $
24. expenditure commitments

Artists’ fees contracted for but not provided for and payable  
Not later than one year  188,500 224,000
Later than one year and not later than five years  25,000 75,000

  213,500 299,000

Capital equipment contracted for but not provided for and payable 
Not later than one year  35,877 5,680

  35,877 5,680

Lease of offices and rehearsal facilities contracted for but not  
provided for and payable 
Not later than one year  260,000 260,000
Later than one year and not later than five years  1,040,000 1,040,000
Later than five years  758,333 1,017,924

  2,058,333 2,317,924

25. economic dependency
Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Holdings Ltd is economically dependent on the ongoing annual funding from 
the Australian Government and the Tasmanian Government through the Australia Council and the Tasmanian 
Government Department of Economic Development, Tourism and the Arts to operate as a going concern.
Funding from the Australian Government and the Tasmanian Government through the 2012 to 2014 Tripartite 
Funding Agreement is secure for 2012 through to 2014, subject to the company continuing to comply with the 
terms of the relevant agreement.
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26. additional financial instrument disclosure
 a) Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, which has 
established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s 
short-, medium- and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities.
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities with agreed repayment periods and the expected maturity of non-derivative financial assets. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash 
flows. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.
The tables below include the weighted average effective interest rate as data about the Group’s exposure 
to interest rates at the end of the reporting period. The Group closely monitors its exposure to interest rate 
risk. The Group endeavours to enter into arrangements to maximise returns, at the same time protecting 
the Group from default.

31 December 
2012

Weighted  
average  

interest rate

Less than  
one month

One to  
three  

months

Four months  
to one year

Greater 
than one 

year

Total

Financial assets  $ $ $ $ $
Fixed interest instruments 5.03% 1,510,731 1,250,000 2,018,666 - 4,799,397
Receivables – note 9  - 342,058 31,198 - 373,256
  1,510,731 1,592,058 2,049,864 - 5,152,653

Financial liabilities 
Accounts payable – note 13  - 471,214 - 5,600 476,814
  - 471,214 - 5,600 476,814

31 December 
2011

Weighted  
average  

interest rate

Less than  
one month

One to  
three  

months

Four months  
to one year

Greater 
than one 

year

Total

Financial assets  $ $ $ $ $
Other financial assets 6.14% 1,000,000 1,250,000 2,448,666 - 4,698,666
Receivables – note 9  - 264,916 7,547 - 272,463
  1,000,000 1,514,916 2,456,213 - 4,971,129

Financial liabilities 
Accounts payable – note 13  402,527 - 10,878 5,600 419,005
  402,527 - 10,878 5,600 419,005
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In the opinion of the directors of Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra Holdings Limited:

(a) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2012 and of its performance, 
as represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and

(b)  the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 
in note 2(b),

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001:

Geoffrey Willis
Director
Hobart, 27 March 2013

 

26. additional financial instrument disclosure 
        (continued)

 b) Net fair value
The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the balance date are those disclosed in the statement 
of financial position and related notes. This is because either the carrying amounts approximate net fair value 
or because of their short term to maturity.

 c) Credit risk exposure
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class of recognised financial 
liabilities is the carrying amount of those liabilities as indicated in the statement of financial position and 
related notes.

The company’s exposure to credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents is minimised through 
depositing monies across a spread of banking institutions.

27. subsequent events
No events have occurred subsequent to balance date that materially affect operations of the Group, or the results 
of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in future years. 
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Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra
www.tso.com.au

Federation Concert Hall, 1 Davey Street, Hobart  
Tasmania 7000 Australia
GPO Box 1450 Hobart TAS 7001 Australia

ABN 81 088 230 184

Box Office
Freecall 1800 001 190
Telephone 03 6232 4450
Facsimile 03 6232 4455
E-mail boxoffice@tso.com.au

Administration
Telephone 03 6232 4444
International Telephone +61 3 6232 4444
Facsimile 03 6232 4455
International Facsimile +61 3 6232 4455
E-mail tso@tso.com.au.

The Tasmanian Symphony Orchestra is assisted by the Australian 
Government through the Australia Council, its arts funding and  
advisory body, and through Arts Tasmania by the Minister for 
Tourism and the Arts, and the Tasmanian Icon Program.
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